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THIS IS THE BEGINNING OF ADMINSTRATIVE FINE CASE
# 4o
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WASHINGTON, D.C. 20463
November 28, 2000

MEMORANDUM
TO: THE COMMISSION
THROUGH: JAMES A. PEHRKON
STAFF DIRECTCOR
FROM: JOHN D. GIBSON ’
ASSISTANT STAFR/DIRECTOR
REPORTS ANALYSIS DIVISION
SUBJECT: REASON TO BELIEVE RECOMMENDATION -

2000 OCTOBER QUARTERLY REPORT FOR THE
ADMINISTRATIVE FINES PROGRAM

Attached are two lists of political committees and their treasurers who failed to file
or timely file the 2000 October Quarterly Report in accordance with 2 U.S.C. 434(a). On
September 21, 2000, Prior Notice was sent to all political commitiees and their treasurers,
informing them that the 2000 Cctober Quarterly Report was duc on October 15, 2000.
The report should cover from July 1, 2000 (or the closing date of the last report filed)

through September 30, 2000.

The commiitees appearing on the first list (not election-sensitive) either filed the
report more than five (5) days after the due date, failed 1o file the report or filed the report
more than thirty (30) days afler the due date (considered a non-filed report). The
committees appearing on the second list (clection-sensitive) either filed the report more
than five {5) days afier the due date, failed to file the report or failed to file the report
prior to four {4) days before the general election (considered a non-filed report). In
accordance with the schedule of civil money penalties for reports at 11 CFR 111.43, these
committees should be assessed the civil money penalties included on the attached lists.



Recommendation

(1) Find reason to believe that the political committees and their treasurers
listed on the RTB Circulation Reports

violated 2 U.S.C. 434(2) and make a preliminary determination that the civil money
penalties would be the amounts indicated on the RTB Circulation Reporis.

)

(3) Send the approptiate letters.

(4)
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FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
Washington, DL 20483

DATE & TIME OF TRANSMITTAL: Tuesday, November 28, 2000 4:00

BALLOT DEADLINE: Friday, December 01, 2066 4:00

COMMISSIONER: MASON, McDONALD, SANDSTROM, SMITH, THOMAS, WOLD

SUBJECT: Reason Te Believe Recommendation 2000 October
Quarterly Report For The Administrative Fines Program.

() | approve the recommendation(s)

() | approve the recommendations except those following
to which | object (please insert AF#)

() 1 approve the recommendations except those following
in which | abstain (please insert AF#)

{) i approve the recommendations except those following
in which | am recused (please insert AF#)

A definite vote is required. All ballots must be signed and dated. Please return
ONE‘,Y THE BALLOT to the Commission Secretary. Please return ballot no later
than date and time shown above.

DATE: SIGNATURE:

[y

+

-

FROM THE OFFICE OF THE SECRETARY OF THE COMMISSION

AP~
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BEFORE THE FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION

In the Matter of

keason to Belisve Recommendation 2000
October Quarterly Report for the
Administrative Fines Program

PEGRAM FOR CONGRESS, and JOSEPH CHOU

ag treasurer;
RAY HAYNES FOR US SENATE, and BETTY

PRESLEY as treasurer;

LEE STEERS FOR CONGRESS / 2000, and
MARY LYNN LANIER as treasurer;

JANEZICH FOR US SENATE COMMITTIEE, and
RAFAEL ORTEGA as treasurer;
DARNER FOR COMGRESS, and EARL SOETAERT

ag treasurer;
MOORE FOR TS SENATE, and LARRY KOPEA

ag treasuresr;

TOM FOLEY FOR US SENATE, and FRANK M
VACCARO JR aB treasurer;

JUDY SMITH FOR CONGRESS, and ALVERNON
HMCHENRY as treasurer;

Agenda Document
No. X00-87

AF# 97

AF% 98

AF§ 100

AF# 102

AFf# 103

AFd¢ 104

AF# 107

AF# 113
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Yederal Electicn Commission
Certification for Administrative Pines

December 05, 2000

JEFF WRIGHT FOR CONGRESS EXPLORATORY
COMMITTEE, and D GERALD SEARFOSS as

treasurer;
COMMITTEE TO ELECT KEVIN MCKEIGUE FOR

UsS SENATE, and KEVIN MCKEIGUE az
treasurer;

HUTCHINS FOR CONGRESS, and BRUCE E
RAFER as treasurer;

MEEKS FOR COMCRESS 2000, and CHARLES H
REEVES III as Ltreasurer;

EVA CLAYTON COMMITTEE FOR CONGRESS,
and PATSY T HARGROVE as treasurer;

E+TRADE GRCUP INC PAC (E*TRADE PAC).,
and MICHAEL CHOCHOW ap treagurary
AMERICAN ACADEMY OF EMERGENCY MEDICINE
POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE ABDEM PAC, ..
and WILLIAM R LITTLE MD PAAEM as
treasurer;

AMERICAN MEAT INSTITUTE POLITICAL
ACTION COMMITTEE, and SARA J LILYGREN
ag treasurer;

L e N L A R

Page

AF# 138

AF# 140

AF§ 143

AF# 145

AFY 1438

AFY# 150

AF# 151

AP# 152

3
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Pederal Election Commission
Certification for Administrative Fines
December 05, 2000

CINCINNATI BELL INMC FEDERAL POLITICAL
ACTION COMMITTEE, and MARK W PETERSON
as treasurer;

CITIZENS FOR THE REPUBLIC, and CAROLYN
ROBERTSON as treasurer;

INN/PAC INT'L ASSN OF HOLIDAY INNS INC
POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and JAMES
P MCCAULEY as treasurer;

MARRIOTT INTERNATIONAL INC POLITICAL
ACTION COMMITTEE, and TRENT M
KITTLEMAN ag treasurer;

PLUMBERS LOCAL TNION KO 1
NYC-POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and
GEORGE W REILLY ag treasurer;

TACO POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and
PETER BRAUN as treasurel;

UNITED ASSOCIATION OF
STEAM/PIPEFITTERS LOCAL UNION 524
POLITICAL ACTION FUND, and ANTHOWY
GALENAS as troasurar;

VIACOM INTERWATIONAL INC POLITICAL
ACTION COMMITTEE, and MICHAEL CRUZ as
treasurer;

WISCONSIN RIGHT T0 LIPE POLITICAL

ACTION COMMITTEE, and RICHARD J FOX as

treasurer;
MACOMB COUNTY DEMOCRATIC COMMITTEE,
and NANCY FALUCONE &g treasurer;

L N A

N N

et et Bl o gyt Gmt Tem gt gt e af et et eyt

Page 4

AF# 153

AF# 154

AF# 156

AF# 158

AFH 159

AF# 182

AF# 163

AF# 164

A¥$ 165

AF# 166



Federal Election Commisasion

Certification for Administrative Fines

December 05, 2000

WEST VIRGINI2 REPUBLICAN STATE
EXECUTIVE CCMMITTEE, and ROBERT J
GOULD as treasurer;

CALIFORNIA VOTER GUIDE, and LEE ANN
FITZGERALD as treasurer;

PECO ENERCY COMPANY POLITICAL ACTION
COMMITTEE (FKA: PHILADELPHIA ELECTRIC
COMPANY PAC), and THERESA M RUCH as
treasurexr;

Page

AF# 168

AFY 169

AF# 172

5




Faederal Election Commission Page 6
Cortification for Adminigtrative Fines

December 05, 2000

CERTIFICATION

I, Darlene Harris, recerding secretary for the
Fegderal Election Commission executive seassion on
December 5, 2000, do hereby certify that the
Commission tock the following actions with respect
to the Reports Analysis Division's Memorandum dated

November 28, 2000, on the fcllowing committees:

AF# 97: Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) find
reason to believe that PEGRAM FOR CONGRESS, and
JOSEPH CHOU as treasurer, vioclated 2 U.S.C. 434(a)
and make a preliminary determination that the civil
money penalty would be the amount indicated on the
roporty (2} send the appropriate lettsr.
Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith, and
Wold voted affirmatively for the decision.
Commissioner Thomas did not vote.

AF# 98: Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) £ind
reason te believe that RAY HAYNES FOR US SENATE, and
BETTY PRESLEY as ¢reasurer, violated 2 11.8.C. 434 (a)
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Federal Election Commission Page 7

Certification for Administrative Fines
December 05, 2000

and make a preliminary determination that the civil
money penalty would be the amocunt indicated on the
report; (2) send the appropriate letter.
Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith, and
Wold voted affirmatively for the decision.
Commissioner Thomas did not vote.

AF# 100: Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) find
reagon to believe that LEE STEERS FOR CONGRESS /
2000, and MARY LYNN LANIER as treasurer, violated 2
U.S.C. 434 (a) and make a preliminary determination
that the civil money penalty would be the amount
indicated on the report; (2) send the appropriate
letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom,
Smith, and Wold voted affirmatively for the
decision. Commissioner Thomas did not wvote.

AF# 102: Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) find
reagon to believe that JANEZICH FOR US SENATE
COMMITTEE, and RAFAEL ORTEGA as treasurer, violated
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Federal Election Commission Page 8
Certification for Administrative Fines
December 05, 2000

2 U.S.C. 434(a) and make a preliminary determination
that the civil money penalty would be the amount
indicated on the report; (2) send the appropriate
letter. Commissionersg Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom,
Smith, and Wold voted affirmatively £for the
decision. Commissioner Thomas did not vote.

AF# 103: Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) £find
reason to believe that DANNER FOR CONGRESS, and EARL
SOETAERT as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and
make a preliminary determination that the civil
money penalty would be the amount indicated on the
report; (2) send the appropriate letter.
Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith, and
Wold voted affirmatively for the decisiocn.
Commiasioner Thomas did not vote.

AF# 104: Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1} find
reason to believe that MOORE FOR US SENATE, and
LARRY KOPSA as treasurer, violated 2 U.5.C. 434 (a)
and make a preliminary determination that the civil
money penalty would be the amount indicated on the
report; (2) send the appropriate letter.
Commissioners Masocn, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith, and
Wold voted affirmatively for the decision.
Commissioner Thomas did not vote.



Federal Election Commission Page 9
Certification for Administrative Fines
December 05, 2000

AF# 107: Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) £find
reagson to believe that TOM FOLEY FOR US SENATE, and
FRANK M VACCARO JR as treasurer, viclated 2 U.S.C.
434 (a) and make a preliminary determination that the
civil money penalty would be the amount indicated on
the report; (2) send the appropriate letter.
Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith, and
Wold voted affirmatively for the decision.
Commisgioner Thomas did not vote.




Federal Election Commission Page 10
Certification for Administrative Fines

December 05, 2000

AF# 113: Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) find
reason to believe that JUDY SMITH FOR CONGRESS, and
ALVERNON MCHENRY as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C.
434(a) and make a preliminary determination that the
civil money penalty would be the amount indicated on
the repori; (2) send the appropriate letter.
Commissicners Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith, and
Wold voted affirmatively for the decisiom.
Comrmissioner Thomas did not vote.




Federal Election Commission Page 16
Certification for Administrative Fines
December 05, 2000
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AF# 139: Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) find
reagson to believe that JEFF WRIGHT FOR CONGRESS
EXPLORATORY CCMMITTEE, and D GERALD SEARFOSS as
treagurer, violated 2 U.8.C. 434(a) and make a
preliminary determination that the civil money
penalty would be the amount indicated on the repoxt;
(2) send the appropriate letter. Commissioners
Mascn, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith, and Wold voted
affirmatively for the decision. Commissioner Thomas

did not wvote.

AF# 140: Decided by a veote of 5-0 to: (1) £ind
reason to believe that COMMITIEE TO ELECT KEVIN




Federal Election Commission Page 17
Certification for Administrative Fines

December 05, 2000

MCKEIGUE FOR US SENATE, and KEVIN MCKEIGUE as
treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and make a
preliminary determination that the civil money
penalty would be the amount indicated on the report;
(2) send the appropriate letter. Commissioners
Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith, and Wold voted
affirmatively for the decision. Commissioner Thomas

did not wvote.

AF# 143: Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) find
reason to believe that HUTCHINS FOR CONGRESS, and
BRUCE E RAPER as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a)
and make a preliminary determination that the civil
money penalty would be the amount indicated eon the
report; (2) send the appropriate letter.
Commissioners Masmon, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith, and
Wold voted affirmatively for the decision.
Commissioner Thomas did not vote.
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Certification for Administrative Fines
December 05, 2000
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AF{#l 145: Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (i) find
reason to believe that MEEKS FOR CONGRESS 2000, and
CHARLES H REEVES 1II as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C.
434 (a) and make a preliminary determination that the
civil money penalty would be the amount indicated on
the report; (2) send the appropriate letter.
Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith, and
Wold voted affirmatively f£or the decision.
Commissioner Thomas did not vote.
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AF# 148: Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) find
reason to believe that EVA CLAYTON COMMITTEE FOR
CONGRESS, and PATSY T HARGROVE as treasurer,
violated 2 U.8.C. 434(a) and make a preliminary
determination that the civil money penalty would be
the amount indicated on the report; (2) send the
appropriate letter. Commisgioners Mason, McDonald,
Sandstrom, Smith, and Wold voted affirmatively for
the decision. Commissioner Thomas did not vote.

AF# 150: Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) £find
reason to believe that E*TRADE GROUP INC PAC
(E*TRADE PAC), and MICHAEL CHOCHON as treasurer,
violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and make a preliminary
determination that the civil money penalty would be
the amount indicated on the report; (2) send the
appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald,
Sandstrom, Smith, and Wold voted affirmatively for
the decision. Commissioner Thomas did not vote.

AF# 151: Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) find
reason to believe that AMERICAR ACADEMY OF EMERGENCY
MEDICINE POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE AAEM PAC, and
WILLIAM R LITTLE MD FAAEM as treasurer, violated 2
U.S.C. 434(a) and make a preliminary determination
that the civil money penalty would be the amount
indicated on the report; (2) send the appropriate
letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom,
Smith, and Wold voted affirmatively for the
decision. Commissioner Thomas did not vote.
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AF# 152: Decided by a wvote of 5-0 to: (1) £find
reason to believe that AMERICAN MEAT INSTITUTE
POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and SARA J LILYGREN as
treasurer, violated 2 U.S8.C. 434(a) and make a
preliminary determination that the civil money
penalty would be the amount indicated on the report;
(2) send the appropriate letter. Commissioners
Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith, and Wold voted
affirmatively for the decision. Commissioner Thomas

did not vote.

AF# 153: Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) find
reagson to believe that CINCINNATI BELL INC FEDERAL
POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and MARK W PETERSON as
treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and make a
preliminary determinatien that the civil money
penalty would be the amount indicated on the report;
(2) send the appropriate letter. Commissioners
Mason, McDonald, Sandstrem, Smith, and Wold wvoted
affirmatively for the decision. Commissioner Thomas

did not vote.

AF# 154: Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) find
reasen to believe that CITIZENES FOR THE REPUBLIC,
and CAROLYN ROBERTSON as treasurer, violated 2
U.S.C. 434(a) and make a preliminary determination
that the civil money penalty would be the amount
indicated om the report; (2} send the appropriate
letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom,
Smith, and Wold voted affirmatively for the
decision. Commissioner Thomas did not vote.
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AF# 1b6: Decided by a wote of 5-0 to: (1) £ind
iy reagson to believe that INN/PAC INT'L ASSN OF HOLIDAY
63 INNS INC POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and JAMES P
1 MCCAULEY as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C, 434(a) and
fu make a preliminary determination that the civil
A money penalty would be the amount indicated on the
td report; (2) send the appropriate letter.
It Commissioners Masen, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith, and
Wold voted affirmatively for the decision.
Commissioner Thomas did not vote.

:}'3{' %ﬁ@ ﬁr;:'..g.
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AF4# 158: Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) £ind
reason to believe that MARRIOTT INTERNATIONAL INC
POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and TRENT M KITTLEMAN asg
treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and make a
preliminary determination that the civil money
penalty would be the amount indicated on the zeport;
(2} send the appropriate letter. Commissioners
Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith, and Wold voted
affirmatively for the decision. Commiasioner Thomas

did not wvote.

RF# 159: Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) £ind
reason to believe that PLUMBERS LOCAL UNION ¥NO 1
NYC-POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and GEORGE W REILLY
as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C..434(a2) and make a
preliminary determination that the civil money
penalty would be the amount indicated on the report:;
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(2) send the appropriate letter. Commissioners
Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith, and Wold voted
affirmatively for the decision., Commissioner Thomas

did not vote.

AF# 162: Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) find
reason to believe that TACO POLITICAL ACTION

COMMITTEE, and PETER BRAUN as treasurer, violated 2

U.S.C. 432{a) and make a preliminary determination
that the civil money penalty would be the amount
indicated on the report; (2) send the appropriate
letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom,
Smith, and Wold votaed affirmatively for the
decision. Commissioner Thomas did not vote.

AF# 163: Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) find
reagon to believe that UNITED ASSOCIATION OF

STEAM/PIPEFITTERS LOCAL UNION 524 POLITICAL ACTION
FUND, and ANTHONY GALENAS as treasurxex, vioclated 2

Page 22



Ffederal Election Commission Page 23
Certification for Administrative Fines
December 05, 2000

U.S.C. 434(a) and make a preliminary determination
that the civil money penalty would be the amount
indicated on the report; (2) send the appropriate
letter. Commissiocners Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom,
Smith, and Wold voted affirmatively for the
decision. Commisgsioner Thomas did not vote.

AF# 164: Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) find
reason to believe that VIACOM INTERNATIONAL INC
POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and MICHAEL CRUZ as
treasurer, vioclated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and make a
preliminary determination that the civil money
penalty would be the amount indicated on the report;
(2) send the appropriate letter. Commissioners
Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith, and Wold voted
affirmatively for the decision. Commissioner Thomas
did not vote.

AF# 165: Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) find
reason to believe that WISCONSIN RIGHT TO LIFE
POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and RICHARD J FOX as
treasurer, violated 2 U.8.C. 434(a) and make a
preliminary determination that the civil money
penalty would be the amount indicated on the report;
(2) send the appropriate letter. Commissioners
Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith, and Wold voted
affirmatively for the decision. Commissioner Thomas
did not vote.

AF# 166: Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) find
reason to believe that MACOMB COUNTY DEMOCRATIC
COMMITTEE, and NANCY FALCONE as treasurer, violated
2 7.8.C. 434(a) and make a preliminary determination
that the civil money penalty would be the amount
indicated on the report; (2) send the appropriate
letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom,
Smith, and Wold voted affirmatively for the
decigion., Commissioner Thomas did not vote.
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AF# l68: Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) find
reason to believe that WEST VIRGINIA REPUBLICAN
STATE EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE, and ROBERT J GOULD as
treasurer, vioclated 2 U.S.¢C. 434(a) and make a
preliminary determination that the civil money
penalty would be the amount indicated on the report;
(2) send the appropriate letter. Commissioners
Mason, McDonald, Sandstrem, Smith, and Wold voted
affirmatively for the decision. Commissioner Thomas

did not wvote.

AF# 169: Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) find
reason to believe that CALIFORNIA VOTER GUIDE, and
LEE ANN FITZGERALD as treasgurer, viclated 2 ¥U.S8.C.
434 (a) and make g preliminary determination that the
civil money penalty would be the amount indicated on
the report; (2) send the appropriate letter.
Commissioners Mason, Mcbhonald, Sandstrom, Smith, and
Wold voted affirmatively for the decision.
Cormissioner Thomas did not vote.
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AF# 172: Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) find
reason to believe that PECO ENERGY COMPANY POLITICAL
ACTION COMMITTEE {(FKA: PHILADELPHIA ELECTRIC CoOMPANY
PAC), and THERESA M RUCH as treasurer, violated 2
U.S.C¢. 434(a) and make a preliminary determination
that the civil money penalty would be the amount
indicated on the report: {2) send the appropriate
letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom,
Smith, and Wold voted affirmatively for the
decision. Cormissioner Thomas did not vote.
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Attest:

Docembpr 523 20600 ﬁw’zﬂwyxﬁ/ W

Date Darlene Harris
Acting Deputy Becretary
of the Commigsion
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WESTERN UNION CCOHMERCIAL SERVICES
CONFIRMATION OF CHMGH TOSKEYIN MCKEIGUE
COMMITTEE TO ELECTY KEVIN MCKEIGUE FOR US
1230 NE 92ND SV
SEATTLE ®WA 98115-3135

FEDERAL ELECTIGON COMMISSION
LEAH PALMER

999 E 5T NW & 709
WASHINGTON DC 20463

DECEMBER Te 2000

KEVIN MCKEIGUE

COMMITYEE TO FLECT KEVIN MCKEIGUE FOR US
1230 NE 92ND 57

SEATTLE WA 98115

€00353557
AFfg: 140

DEAR KEVIN MCKEIGUES

THE FEDERAL ELECTION CAMPAIGHN ACT OF 1971, AS AMENDED €PTHE
ACT7)y REQUIRES THAT VOUR COMMITTEE FILE AN OCTOBER QUARTERLY REPORY
OF RECEIPTS AND DISBURSEMENTS IN A CALENDAR YEAR DURING WHICH THERE
[5 A REGULARLY SCHEDULED ELECTION FOR WHICH THE CANDIDAYE IS SEEXEING
ELECTIONy DR MOMINATION FOR ELECTION. TKIS REPORT, COVERING THE
PERIDD THROUGH SEPTEMBER 30TH, SHALL BE FILED NO LATER THAN OCTOBER
15THe 2 UaS.Ce 4#34fA3}e VYOU WERE PREVIOUSLY NGTIFIED OF THE DUE
DATE FOR THIS REPORTe QECGRDS AT THE COMMISSION INDICATE THAT THIS
REPORT WAS NMOT FILED WITHIN THIRTY {30) DAYS OF THE DUE DATE. YOU
SHOULD FILE THE OCTOBER QUARTERLY REPORT IF VOU HAVE NOY ALREADY
DONE 5G.

THE ACT WAS FURTHER AMENDED 1IN 1999 TO PERMIT THE FEDERAL
ELECTION COMMISSION (TTHME COMMISSION®) TO IWMPOSE CIVIL MONEY
PENALTIES FOR YIOLATIONS OF THE REPORTING REQUIREMENTS OF 2 UsSalo
£340A%e 2 UoSefo 437GEA}I4G)e ON 1270572000, THE COMMISSIGN FOUND
THAT THERE 1S REASON TO BELEEVE (PRTBY) THAT COMNITYEE 7O ELELT
KEVIN MCKEIGUE FOR US ANG YOUp, AS TREASURER. VIODLATED 2 UeS«Co
4341A) BY FAILING TO FILE TIMELY THIS REPORY ON COR BEFORE OCTOBER
15THe BASED DN THE COMMISSION®S SCHEDULES OF CIVIL HWONEY PENALTIES
AT 11 CFR 111.43, THE AMOUNT OF YOUR CIVIL MONEY PENALTY CALCULATED
AT RTB IS $0.00. IT I$ DUE 8Y 0171472001 AND 1S BASED ON THESE
FACTORS:

ELECTION SENSITIVITY OF REPORT: NGT ELECTION SENSITIVE
LEVEL OF ACTIVITY=2 $78180

NUM3ER OF DAYS LATE: NOT FILED

NUMBER OF PREVIOUS CIViIL MONEY PEMALTIES ASSESSED: O




AL SERVICES

#IF THE REPORT WAS NOT RECEIVEDs THE LEVEL OF ACTIVITY WAS ESTIMATED
USING TOTAL RECEIPTS AND DISBURSEMENTS FOR THE CURRENT 2-YEAR
ELECTION €YCLE {OR PRIOR CYCLEs-IF-NDO REPORTS WERE FILED THIS LYCLE?R
DIVIDED BY THE NUMBER OF REPDRTS FILED.

TO PAY THE CALCULATED CIVIL MOMEY PENALTY

YO PAY THE CALCULATED CIVIL MDMEY PENALTYy SEND THE ENCLOSED
REMITTANCE AND YOQUR PAYMENT TO THE COMMISSION AT THE ADDRESS ON PAGE
3. UPON RECEIPT OF YOUR PAYMEMNT, THE COHMMISSION WILL SEND YOU A
FINAL OSTERMINATION LETTER.

s $TH
4.4 B
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TO CHALLENGE THE RTB FINDING ANDFOR CALCULATED CIVIL MONEY PENALTY

T3 CHALLENGE THE RTB FINDING AND/JOR CALCULATED CIVIL MONEY
PENALTY, YOU MUST SUBHIT A WRITTEN RESPONSE TO THE COMMISSIDN®S
OFFICE GOF ADMINISTRATIVE REVIEWs 999 E STREET, NHp WASHINGTON, ODC
20463. YOUR RESPONSE MUST BE RECEIVED BY 01/714/2001. VYOUR WRITTEN
RESPONSE MUST INCLUDE THE REASONIS) WHY YOU ARE CHALLENGING THE RY3
FINDING AND/OR CALCULATED CIVIL MONEY PENALTY. THE COMMISSION WILL
ONLY CONSIDER CHALLENGES THAT ARE BASED ON A FACTUAL ERRORe
MISCALCULATION OF THE CALCULATED CIVIL MONEY PENALYY 3Y THE
COMMISSIONe OR THE EXISTENCE OF EXTRAORDINARY CIRCUMSTANCES THAT
PERSISTED FDR MORE THAN 48 HOURS THAT WERE BEYOND YOUR CONTROL AND
PREVENTED YOU FROM FILING THE REPORY IN A TIMELY MANNER. YDUR
RESPONSE MUST INCLUDE THE FACTUAL BASIS SUPPORTING THE REASONIS) AND
SUPPORTING DOCUMENTATION. THE COMHMISSION STRONGLY ENCDURAGES THAT
DOCUMENTS B8E SUBMITTED IN THE FORM OF AFFIDAVITS OR DECLARATIOMS.
EXTRAGRDINARY CIRCUMSTANCES THAT WILL NOT BE CONSIDERED INCLUDE, BUT
ARE NOT LIMITED 7D, NEGLIGENCE: PRDBLEMS WITH VENDORS OR
CONTRACTORSy STAFF ILLNESS, COMPUTER FATLURES AND SIMILAR
CIRCUMSTANCES, 11 CFR 111354834134 111) AND {4}

IF YOU INTSND 7O 8E REPRESENTED BY COUNSELe PLEASE ADYISE THE
CFFICE CF ADMINISTRATIVE REVIEHW. YOU SHOULD PROVIDEs IN WRITINGs
THE NAME, ADDRESS AND TELEPHONE NUMBER OF YOUR COUNSEL AND AUTHORIZE
COUNSEL TO RECEIVE NOTIFICATIONS AND COMMUNICATIONS RELATING TO THIS
CHALLENGE AND IMPOSITION OF THE CALCULATED CIVIL MONEY PENALTY.
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1F YOU DC NOTY PAY THE CALCULATED CIVIL MONEY PENALTY DR SUBMIT A
CHALLENGE

IF YOU DO NOT PAY THE CALCULATED CIVIL MONEY PENALTY OR SUBHMIT A
HRITTEN RESPONSEs THE COMMISSION MWILL ASSUME THAT THE PRECEDING
FACTUAL ALLEGATIDNS ARE TRUE AND MAKE A FINAL DEVERMINATION THAT
COMMITTEE TO ELECT KEVIN HCKEIGUE FOR US AND YOU, AS TREASURER»
YIOLATED 2 U.S-Cc 434TA) ARD ASSESS A CIVIL MONEY PENALTY.

UNPAID CIVIL MONEY PENALTIES ASSESSED THROUGH THE ADMINISTRATIVE
FINE REGULATIONS WILL BE SUBJECT TO THE DEBT COLLECTION ACY OF
1982{"DCA"}JAS AMENDED BY THE DEBT COLLECTION [MPROVEMENT ACT OF
19965 31 UoeSoCo 3701 ET SEQe THE COMMISSION MAY TAKE ANY AND ALL
APPROPRIATE ACUTION AUTHORIZED AND REQUIRED BY THE DCAe AS AMENDEDS
INCLUDING TRANSFER TO THE UoS. DEPARTMENT OF THE TREASURY FOR
COLLECTION. 11 CFR 111e45.

THIS MATTER WAS GENERATED BASED OM INFORMATION ASCERTAINED BY
THE COMMISSION IN THE NORMAL COURSE OF CARRYING OUT ITS SUPERVISORY
RESPONSIBILITIES: 2 UoS5-Ce %37G{AJ(23, 1T WILL REMAIN CONFIDENTIAL
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IN ACCORDANCE WITH 2 UoSelo 437GIANI4HIB) AND 437GEADI123CAD UNLESS
YOU NOTIFY THE COMMISSION IN WRITING THAT YOU WISH THE MATTER TO BE
HADE PUBLIC.

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION ON THE COMRISSION®S ADMINISTRATIVE FINE
PROGRAMy INCLUDING THE FINAL REGULATIONSs 1S LOCATED AT THE
COMHMISSION®S WEBSITE AT HHW.FEC.GDV. IF YOU HAVE QUESTIONS
REGARDING THE PAYHENT OF THE CALCULATED CIVIL MONEY PENALTYs PLEASE
CONTACT MARY €. SEILER IN THE REPORTS ANALYSIS DIVISION AT OUR TOLL
FREE NUMBER [8003424-9530 {PRESS 1, THEN PRESS 2) OR (2023694-1130,
1F YDOU HAVE QUESTIONS REGARDING THE SUSHMISSION OF A CHALLENGE,
PLEASE CONTACT THE QFFICE COF ADMINISTRATIVE REVIEW AT QUR TOLL FREE
NUMBER (80034%24~-9530 (PRESS 0» THEN EXT. 1660) OR 1202)694~1660.

SINCERELYy

DARRYL WaLD
CHAIRMAN

® # * % % % = % P & % & = &
ADMINISTRATIVE FINE REMITTANCE & PAYMENY INSTRUCTIONS

IN ACCQORDANCE WITH YHE SCHEDULE OF PENALTIES AT 11 CFR 111043y
YHE AMOUNT JF YOUR CIVIL MONEY PENALTY CALCULATED AT RTB 15 $D0.00

FOR THE 2000 OCTOBER QUARTERLY REPDRT.
PLEASE MATL THIS REMIVTANCE WITH A CHECK OR MONEY ORDER MADE

PAYABLE TO THE FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSICN TO THE FOLLOWING ADDRESS:
FEDERAL ELECTICN COMHMISSION
P-0- BOX 952182
STe LOVUIS: MO 63195-2182

IF YOU CHOOSE TO SEND YDUR REMITTANCE AND PAYMENT BY COURIER OR
DVERNIGHT DELIVERY, PLEASE USE THIS ADDRESS:
FIRSTAR = GOVERNHENT LIOCKBOX
FEC #952182
1005 CONVENTION PLAZA
$To LOUISe M2 63101

THE REMITTANCE AND YOUR PAYMENT ARE DUE 3Y 01/14/2001. UPON
RECEIPT (OF YOUR REMITTANCE AND PAYMENT, THE COUMMISSION WILL SEND YOU

A FINAL DETERMINATION LETTER.

PLEASE DETACH AND RETURN THE PORTIONMN BELODY WEITH YOUR PAYMENT

e . i S s S S o D - o - e
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FOR:T COMRITTEE TO ELECT XKEVIN MCKEIGUE FOR US
FEC 1D#: CO0353557

AFf: 140

PAYMENT DUE DATE: 0171472001

PAYMENT AMOUNT DUE: §$0.00




999 E Street, N.W. PRODUCT: Mailgram

Washington, DC 20463 OPTIONS: (Certified)
ADDRESSES: g3 test
LETTER: AF_Special2 H&S Q3 Not File
SPECIAL FEATURES: NONE

KEVIN MCKEIGUE

CMTE TO ELECT KEVIN MCKEIGUE US SENATE
1230 NE 92ND ST

SEATTLE WA S5B115

December 18, 2000

C00353557
AF#: 140

Dear KEVIN MCKEIGUE:

The Federal Election Campaign Act of 1971, as amended ("the
Act"), reguires that your committee file an October Quarterly Report
. of Receipts and Disbursements in a calendar year during which there
- is a regularly scheduled election for which the candidate is seeking
B election, or nomination for election. This report, covering the
# period through September 30%th, shall be filed no later than October
4 15th. 2 U.S5.C. 434(a). You were previcusly notified of the due
$ date for this report. Records at the Commission indicate that this
. report was not filed within thirty (30) days of the due date. You
should file the October Quarterly Report if you have not already
done so.

The Act was further amended in 1999 to permit the Federal
Election Commission {"the Commission") to impose civil money
penalties for viclations of the reporting requirements of 2 U.5.C.
43a4{a). 2 U.S5.C. 437g(a){4}. On 12/05/2000, the Commission found
that there is reason to belisve ("RTB"} that CMTE TO ELECT KEVIN
MCKEIGUE US SENATE and vou, as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434{a)
by failing to file timely this report on or before October 1S5th.
Based on the Commission's schedules of civil money penalties at 11
CFR 111.43, the amount of your civil money penalty calculated at RTB
is $3500. Please note that our initial notice sent December
7, 2000 incorrectly listed $0.00 as the civil money penalty. It is
due by 01/14/2001 and is based on these factors:

Election Sensitivity of Report: HNot election sensitive

Level of Activity*: § 78180
Number of Days Late: Not Filed
Number of Previous Civil Money Penalties Aassessed: 0

*If the report was not received, the level of activity was estimated
using total receipts and disbursements for the current 2Z-year
election cycle (or prior cycle, if no reports were filed this cycle)
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divided by the number of reports filed.

To Pay the Calculated Civil Money Penalty

To pay the calculated civil money penalty, send the enclosed
remittance and your payment to the Commission at the address on page
3. Upon receipt of your payment, the Commission will send you a
final determination letter.

To Challenge the RTB Finding and/ocr Calculated Civil Money Penalty

To challenge the RTB finding and/or calculated civil money
penalty, you must submit a written response to the Commission's
Office of Administrative Review, 999 E Street, NW, Washington, DC
20463. Your response must be received by 01/14/2001. Your written
response must include the reason(s) why you are challenging the RTB
finding and/or calculated civil money penalty. The Commission will
only consider challenges that are based on a factual error,
miscalculation of the calculated civil money penalty by the
Commission, or the existence of extraordinary circumstances that
persisted for more than 48 hours that were beyond your control and
prevented you from filing the report in a timely manner. Your
response must include the factual basls supporting the reason(s) and
supporting documentation. The Commission strongly encourages that
documents be submitted in the form of affidavits or declarations.
Extracrdinary circumstances that will not be considered include, but
are not limited to, negligence, problems with vendors or
contractors, staff illness, computer failures and similar
circumstances. 11 CFR 111.35(b) (1) (iii) and (4}.

If you intend to be represented by counsel, please advise the
Office of Administrative Review. You should provide, in writing,
the name, address and telephone number of your counsel and authorize
counsel to receive notifications and communications relating to this
challenge and imposition of the calculated civil money penalty.

If You Do Not Pay The Calculated Civil Money Penalty or Submit a
Challenge

If you do not pay the calculated civil money penalty or submit a
written response, the Commission will assume that the preceding
factual allegations are true and make a final determination that
CMTE TO ELECT KEVIN MCKEIGUE US SENATE and you, as treasurer,
violated 2 U.8.C. 434(a} and assess a civil money penalty.

Unpaid civil money penalties assessed through the Administrative
Fine regulations will be subject to the Debt Collection Act of
1982 ("DCA") as amended by the Debt Collection Improvement Act of
1996, 31 U.S.C. 3701 et seg. The Commission may take any and all
appropriate action authorized and required by the DCA, as amended,
including transfer to the U.S. Department of the Treasury for
cocllection. 11 CFR 111.45.

This matter was generated based on information ascertained by
the Commission in the normal course of carrying out its supervisory
responsibilities. 2 U.S.C. 437gf{a)(2). It will remain confidential
in accordance with 2 U.s8.C. 437g(a) (4} (B) and 437g(a) (12) (B) unless
you notify the Commission in writing that you wish the matter to be
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made public.

hdditional information on the Commission's administrative fine
program, including the final regulations, is located at the
Commission's website at www.FEC.gov. If you have questions
regarding the paywent of the calculated civil money penalty, please
contact MARY B, SEILER in the Reports Analysis Division at our toll
free number (800}424-9530 {(press 1, then press 2) or (202)694-1130.
If you have guestions regarding the submission of a challenge,
please contact the Office of Rdministrative Review at our toll free
number {800)424-9530 (press 0, then ext. 1660} or {(202)65%4-1650.

Sincerely,

Darryl Wold
Chairman

* * L] L4 * o * % " * * * * ®

ADMINISTRATIVE FINE REMITTANCE & PAYMENT INSTRUCTIONS

In accordance with the schedule of penalties at 11 CFR 111.43,
the amount of your civil money penalty calculated at RTB is
$3500 forxr the 2000 OCTOBER QUARTERLY Report.
Please mail this remittance with a check or money order made
payable to the Federal Election Commission to the following address:
Federal Election Commission
P.0O. Box 952182
St. Louis, MO 63195-2182

If you choose to gend your remittance and payment by courier or
ocvernight delivery, please use this address:
Firstar - Government Lockbox
FEC #552182
1005 Conventicn Plaza
5t. Louis, MO 63101

The remittance and your payment are due by 01/14/2001. Upen
receipt of your remittance and payment, the Commission will send you
a fipnal determination letter.

PLEASE DETACH AND RETURN THE PORTION BELOW WITH YOUR PAYMENT

o e s e e R e e T e W e wh kT G = TR A Se e e e mm e e e e e e e s G o e v e e e e e e

FOR: CMTE TO ELECT KEVIN MCKEIGUE US SENATE
FEC ID#: C00353557

AF%: 140

PAYMENT DUE DATE: 01/14/2001

PAYMENT AMOUNT DUE: $3500
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FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION e e e
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20463 UL i S

March 27, 2001

MEMORANDUM
TO: THE COMMISSION
THROUGH: JAMES A. PEHRKON
STAFF DIRECTOR
FROM: JOHN D. GIBSON '
ASSISTANT STAFY DIRECTOR
REPORTS ANALYSIS DIVISION
SUBJECT: ADMINISTRATIVE FINES FINAL DETERMINATION

RECOMMENDATION FOR THE 2000 OCTOBER
QUARTERLY AND NOVEMBER MONTHLY REPORTS

Attached are two lists of political committees and their treasurers which the
Commission has found reason to believe (RTB) and assessed proposed civil money
penalties calculated at RTB for failure to file or failure to timely file the 2000 October
Quarterly and November Monthly Reports. The first list represents committees that have
paid the civil money penalty and the second list represenis those that have not paid. The
committees that have not paid have been given at ieast forty (40) days from the date of the

RTB notification to remit payment.

In accordance with 11 CFR 111.34 and 11 CFR 11 1.40, the Commission shall sead
a final determination notice to those respondents that have either paid or not paid the civil

money penalty.

committees have filed their reports after the RTB finding. The actual level of
activity disclosed on the report results in 2 civil money penalty which is lower than that

assessed at RTB.
The commitiees

are:
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e Committee to Elect Kevin McKeigue for US Senate
AF #140

None of the committees listed above have paid the civil money penalty. The actual
level of activity and receipt date of the reports, as well as the revised civil money
penalties, are reflectad on the attached “not paid” circulation report.

additional committees filed the report after the RTB finding and disclosed
levels of activity that would have resulted in higher civil money penalties had the reports
been filed prior to the RTB stage. However, the internal procedures adopted by the
Commission on March 20, 2001 only allows for approval of a lower civil money penalty
at the final determination stage if the report discloses an actual level of activity which is
less than the estimate on which the RTB civil money penalty was based. Therefore, the
civil money penalty that is recommended at the final determination stage for the
following committees is the same amount that was approved at the RTB stage:

e Eva Clayton Committee for Congress (AF #148)
RTB fine based on estimated level of activity: 34,000
Actual level of activity fine: §3,000
(The $4,000 finc has been paid by the Committce)
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RAD Recommendation

(1) Make final determinations that the political committees and their treasurers on the
attached lists violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess the civil money penalties so

indicated.

(2) Send the appropriate letters.
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FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
Washington, DC 20463 )

DATE & TIME OF TRANSMITTAL: Wednesday, March 28, 2004 4:00

BALLOT DEADLINE: Monday, Aprit 02, 2001 4:00

COMMISSIONER: MASON, McDONALD, SANDSTROM, SMITH, THOMAS, WOLD

SUBJECT: Administrative Fines Final Determination Recommendation
For The 2000 October Quarterly And November Monthly

Reporis.
() | approve the recommendation(s)
() | object to the recommendation(s)
() i approve the recommendations except those following

to which | object (please insert AF#)

() | approve the recommendations except those following
in which | abstain {please insert AF#)

{) | approve the recommendations except those following
in which | am recused (please insert AF#)

A definite vote is required. Al ballots must be signed and dated. Please return
ONLY THE BALLOT to the Commission Secretary. Please return ballot no fater
than date and time shown above. '

SIGNATURE:

DATE:

FROM THE OFFICE OF THE SECRETARY OF THE COMMISSION



D .25

X

L owf

-

BEFORE THE FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION

In the Matter of

Administrative Fines Final
Determination Recommendation For The
2000 October Quarterly And November

Monthly Reports

PEGRAM FOR CONGRESS, and JOSEPH CHOU
as treasurer;

LEE STEERS FOR CONGRESS / 2000, and
MARY LYNN LANIER as treasurex;
JANEZICH FOR US SENATE COMMITTEE, and
RAFAEL ORTEGA as treasurer;

TOM FOLEY FOR US SENATE, and FRANK M
VACCARO JR as treasurer;

AF# 97

AF# 100

AF# 102

AF# 107
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Federal Election Commisaion
Certification for Administrative Fines

April 02, 2001

COMMITTEE TO ELECT KEVIN MCKEIGUE FOR
Us SENATE, and KEVIN MCKEIGUE as
treasurer;

HUTCHINS FOR CONGRESS, and BRUCE E
RAFER as treasurer;

MEEKS FOR COHNGRESS 2000, and CHARLES H
REEVES III as tzreasurer;

EVA CLAYTON COMMITTEE FOR CONGRESS,
and PATSY T HARGROVE as treasurer;

EX*TRADE GROUP INC PAC (E*TRADE PACQ),
and MICHAEL CHOCHON as treasurer;
AMERICAN ACADEMY OF EMERGENCY MEDICINE
POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE AAEM PAC,
and WILLIAM R LITTLE MD FAAEM as
treasurer;

AMERICAN MEAT INSTITUTE POLITICAL
ACTION COMMITTEE, and SaARA J LILYGREN
as treasurer;

CINCINNATI BELI, INC FEDERAL POLITICAL
ACTION COMMITTEE, and MARK W PETERSON
as treasurer;

CITIZENS FOR THE REPUBLIC, and CAROLYN
ROBERTSON as treasurer;

INN/PAC INT'L ASSN OF HOLIDAY INNS INC
POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and JAMES
P MCCAULEY as treasurer;

MARRIOTT INTERNATIONAL INC POLITICAL
ACTION COMMITTEE, and TRENT M
KITTLEMAN as treasurer;

PLUMBERS LOCAYL, UNION NO 1
NYC-POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and
GEORGE W REILLY as treasurer;

L LWl W )

— et Tt et e ekt et e war e et et s e
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AF#

AF#

AF#

AF#

AF#

AF#

AF#

AF#

AF#

AF#

AF#

AF#

Page

140

143

145

148

150

151

152

153

154

156

158

159

2
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Paderal Election Commisgsion
Certification for Administrative Fines

April 02, 2001

TACO POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and
PETER BRAUN as treasurer;

VIACOM INTERNATIONAL INC POLITICAL
ACTION COMMITTEE, and MICHAEL CRUZ as
Lreasurer;

WISCONSIN RIGET T0 LIFE POLITICAL
ACTION COMMITTEE, and RICHARD J FOX as
treasurer;

MACOMB COUNTY DEMOCRATIC COMMITTEE,
and NANCY FALCONE as treasurer;

WEST VIRGINIA REPUBLICAN STATE
EXECUTIVE COMMITTIEE, and ROBERT J
GOULD as treasurer;

PECO ENERGY COMPANY POLITICAL ACTION
COMMITTEE (FKA: PHILADELPHIA ELECTRIC
COMPANY PAC), and THERESA M RUCH as
treasurer;

COMMITTEE ON ARRANGEMENTS FOR THE 2000
REPURLICAN NATION CONVENTION, and ALEC
POITEVINT as treasurer;

BILL BRADLEY FOR PRESIDENT INC, and
THEODORE V WELLS JR as treasurern;

R e "

et S s T ot

bPage

AFH# 162

AF# 164

AF# 165

AFf 166

AF# 168

AF# 172

AF# 177

AF# 237

3
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Federal Election Commisgsion Page 4
Certification for Administrative Fines
April 02, 2001

CERTIFICATION

I, Mary W. Dove, Secretary of the Federal
Election Commission, do hereby certify that
on April 2, 2001 the Commission took the following
actions on the Final Determination Recommendation
For The 2000 October Quarterly And November Monthly
Report in the Administrative Fines Program, as
recommended in the Reports Aunalysis Division's
Memorandum dated March 27, 2001, on the following

committees:

AF# 97: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that the PEGRAM FOR CONGRESS,
and JOSEPH CHOU ag treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C.

434 (a) and assess a civil money penalty indicated in
the Reports Analyszis Division's Memorandum dated
March 27, 2001; {2) szend the appropriate letter.
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Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith,
Thomas, and Wold voted affirmatively for the
decision.

AF# 100: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that the LEE STEERS FOR CONGRESS
/ 2000, and MARY LYNN LANIER as treasurer, violated
2 U.8.C. 434(a) and assess a civil money penalty
indicated in the Reports Analysis Division's
Memorandum dated March 27, 2001; (2) send the
appropriate letter. Commissiocners Mason, McDonald,
Sandstrom, Smith, Thomas, and Weld voted
affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 102: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that the JANEZICH FOR US SENATE
COMMITTEE, and RAFAEL ORTEGA as treasurer, violated
2 U.S.¢C. 434(a) and assess a civil money penalty
indicated in the Reports Analysis Division's
Memorandum dated March 27, 2001;(2) send the
appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald,
Sandstrom, Smith, Thomas, and Wold voted
affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 107: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that the TOM FOLEY FOR US -
SENATE, and FRANK M VACCARO JR as treasurer,
violated 2 U.8.C. 434(a) and assess a civil money
penalty indicated in the Reports Analysis Division's
Memorandum dated March 27, 2001;(2) send the
appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald,
Sandstrom, Smith, Thomas, and Wold voted
affirmatively for the decision.
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Federal Election Commission Page B

Certification for Administrative Fines
April 02, 2001

AF# 140: Decided by a vote of §-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that the COMMITTEE TO ELECT
KEVIN MCKEIGUE FOR US SENATE, and KEVIN MCKEIGUE as
treasurer, violated 2 U.S8.C. 434(a) and assess a
eivil money penalty indicated in the Reports
Analysis Division's Memorandum dated March 27,
2001; (2) send the appropriate letter.
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AF# 143: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that the HUTCHINS FOR CONGRESS,
and BRUCE E RAFER as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C.
434 (a) and assesz a civil money penalty indicated in
the Reports Analysis Division's Memorandum dated
March 27, 2001;(2) send the appropriate letter.
Commissioners Mason, Mc¢Donald, Sandstrom, Smith,
Thomas, and Wold voted affirmatively for the

decigion.

AF# 145: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that ths MEEKS FOR CONGRESS
2000, and CHARLES H REEVES I1I as treasurer,
viclated 2 U.S8.C. 434(a) and assess a civil money
penalty indicated in the Reports Analysis Division's
Memorandum dated March 27, 2001;(2) send the
appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald,
Sandstrom, Smith, Thomas, and Wold voted
affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 148: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that the EVA CLAYTON COMMITTEE
FOR CONGRESS, and PATSY T HARCROVE as treasurer,
violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess a civil money
penalty indicated in the Reports Analysis Division‘s
Memorandum dated March 27, 2001;(2) send the
appropriate letter.
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Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith, Thomas,
and Wold voted affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 150: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that the E*TRADE GROUP INC PAC
(E*TRADE PAC), and MICHAEL CHOCHON as treasurer,
violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and agsess a civil money
penalty indicated in the Reports Analysis Division's
Memorandum dated March 27, 2001;{2) send the
appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald,
Sandstrom, Smith, Thomas, and Wold voted
affirmatively for the decision.

AFP# 151: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that the AMERICAN ACADEMY OF -
EMERGENCY MEDICINE POLITICAIL ACTION COMMITTEE AAEM
PAC, and WILLIAM R LITTLE MD FAAEM as treasurer,
vioclated 2 U.8.C. 434(a) and assess a civil money
penalty indicated in the Reports Analysis Division's
Memorandum dated March 27, 2001;(2) send the
appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald,
Sandatyrom, Smith, Thomas, and Wold voted
affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 152: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: {1) make a
final determination that the AMERICAN MEAT INSTITUTE
POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and SARA J LILYGREN as
treasurer, vioclated 2 U.S8.C. 434(a) and assess a
civil money penalty indicated in the Reports
Analysis Divisgion's Memorandum dated March 27,
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2001; (2) send the appropriate letter. Commiggsioners
Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith, Thomas, and Wold
voted affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 153: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1} make a
final determination that the CINCINNATI BELL INC
FEDERAL POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and MARK W
PETERSON as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and
assess a civil money penalty indicated in the
Reports Analysis Division's Memorandum dated March
27, 2001;(2) send the appropriate letter.
Commissioners Mascn, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith,
Thomas, and Wold voted affirmatively for the

decision.

AF# 154: Decided by a vote of 6-0 teo: (1) make a
final determination that the CITIZENS FOR THE
REPUBLIC, and CAROLYN ROBERTSCON as treasurer,
violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess a civil money
penalty indicated in the Reports Analysis Division's
Memorandum dated March 27, 2001; (2) send the
appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald,
Sandstrom, Smith, Thomas, and Weld voted
affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 156: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that the INN/PAC INT'L ASSN OF
HOLIDAY INNS INC POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and
JAMES P MCCAULEY as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C.

434 (a) and assess a civil money penalty indicated in
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Certification for Administrative Fines
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the Reports Analysis Division's Memorandum dated
March 27, 2001;(2) send the appropriate letter.
Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith,
Thomas, and Wold voted affirmatively for the
decision.

AF# 158: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that the MARRIOTT INTERNATIONAL
INC POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and TRENT M
KITTLEMAN as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.¢. 434(a) and
assegs a civil money penalty indicated in the
Reports Analysis Division's Memorandum dated March
27, 2001;{(2) send the appropriate letter.
Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith,
Thomas, and Wold voted affirmatively for the
decision.

AF# 159: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that the PLUMBERS LOCAL UNION NO
1 NYC-POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and GEORGE W
REILLY as treasurer, violated 2 U.S8.C. 434(a) and
asgsess a civil money penalty indicated in the
Reports Analysis Division's Memorandum dated March
27, 2001;(2) =send the appropriate letter. -
Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith,
Thomas, and Wold voted affirmatively fox the
decision.
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AF# 162: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that the TACO POLITICAL ACTION
COMMITTEE, and PETER BRAUN as treasurer, violated 2
U.s.C. 434(a) and assess a civil money penalty
indicated in the Reports Analysis Division's
Memorandum dated March 27, 2001;(2) send the
appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason, McDhonald,
Sandstrom, Smith, Thomas, and Wold voted
affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 164: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that the VIACOM INTERNATIONAL
INC POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and MICHAEL CRUZ as
treasurer, viclated 2 U.S.C. 434 (a) and assess a
civil money penalty indicated in the Reports
Analysis Division's Memorandum dated March 27,
2001; {2) eend the appropriate letter. Commissicners
Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith, Thomas, and Wold
voted affirmatively for the decision.

AF{# 165: pecided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that the WISCONSIN RIGHT TO LIFE
POLTTICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and RICHARD J FOX as
treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess a
civil mconey penalty indicated in the Reports -
Analysis Division‘’s Memorandum dated March 27,
2001; (2) send the appropriate letter. Commissioners
Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith, Thomas, and Wold
voted affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 166: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that the MACOMB COUNIY
DEMOCRATIC COMMITTEE, and NANCY FALCONE as
treasurer, vioclated 2 U.8.C. 434(a) and assess a
civil money penalty indicated in.the Reports
Analysis Division's Memorandum dated March 27,
2001; (2) send the appropriate letter. Commissioners
Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith, Thomas, and Wold
voted affirmatively for the decision.
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AF# 168: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that the WEST VIRGINIA
REPUBLICAN STATE EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE, and ROBERT J
GOULD as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and
assess a civil money penalty indicated in the
Reports Analysis Division's Memorandum dated March
27, 2001;(2) send the appropriate letter.
Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith,
Thomas, and Wold voted affirmatively for the

decision.

AF# 172: Decided by a vote of €-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that the PECO ENERGY COMPANY
POLITICAL ACTICOHN COMMITTEE (FKA: PHILADELPHIA
ELECTRIC COMPANY PAC), and THERESA M RUCH as
treasurer, viclated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess a
civil money penalty indicated in the Reports
Analysis Division's Memorandum dated March 27,
2001; (2) send the appropriate letter. Commissioners




|
|

i

Federal Election Commigsion Page 15
Certification for Administrative Fines

April 02, 2001

Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith, Thomas, and Wold
voted affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 177: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that the COMMITTEE ON
ARRANGEMENTS FOR THE 2000 REPUBLICAN NATION
CONVENTION, and ALEC POITEVINT as treasurer,
violated 2 U.8.C. 434(a) and assess a civil money
penalty indicated in the Reports Analysis Division's
Memorandum dated March 27, 2001; (2) send the
appropriate lettexr. Commissioners Mason, McDonald,
Sandstrom, Smith, Thomas, and Wold voted
affirmatively for the decision.

-

AF# 237: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that the BILL BRADLEY FOR
PRESIDENT INC, and THEQODORE V WELLS JR as treasurer,
violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess a civil money
penalty indicated in the Reports Analysis Divigicon's
Memorandum dated March 27, 2001; (2} send the
appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald,
Sandstrom, Smith, Thomas, and ¥Wold voted
affirmatively for the decision.
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Attast:

" " [
Q;@;,w/, 200 / %ﬁﬂm ,7} KQ&%L
Dste Mary ngﬁove
Secretéry of the Commission

Received in the Secretariat: Wed., Mar. 28, 2001 12:34 p.m.
Circulated to the Commission: Wed., Mar. 28, 2001 4:00 p.m.
Deadline for vote: Mon., Apr. 02, 2001 4:00 p.m.



i}
i
Wi
T
{4

WESYERN UNION COMMERCIAL SERVICES

CONFIRMKATION OF CHMGH TOsKEVIN MCKEIGUE
CMTE TO ELECT KEVIN MCKEIGUE FOR U3 SEN4
1230 NE 92KD 57
SEATTLE WA 98115-3135

FEDERAL ELECTION TOMMISSION
LEAH PALMER

239 E ST NW 4 709
WASHINGTON DC 20463

APRIL 4 2001

KEVIN MCKEIGUE

CMTE TO ZLECT KEVIN MCKEIGUE FOR US 3ENA
1230 NE 92K ST

SEATTLE YA 98115

03353557
AF& 140

DEAR KEVIN MCKEIGUE

0N 12/05/72000, THE FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION {WTHE
COMMISS IONT) FOUND REASON T2 BELIEVE {(®RT3%) THAT CMTE TO ELECT
KEVIN 4CKTIGUE FIR US SENA AND YOUs AS TREASURER, VIDLATED 2 UeS.Ce
434(A4) FOP FATLING TO FILE THE 2000 OCTOBER JUARTERLY REPORT. B8Y
MATLGRAM DATED 1271872000, THE COMMISSION SENT YOU NOTIFICATION OF
THT RT3 FINDING THAT INCLUCEC A CIVIL MONEY PENALTY CALCULATED AT
PT2 AF $3500.00 IN ACCORDANCE WITH THT SCHEDULE OF PENALTIES ATV 11
CofFaRoe 111443 WITHIN 40 NDAYS OF THE COMMISSION®S RT3 FINDINGs YDU
Weee RIJPYIRED TO SITHER TRANSMIT PAYMENT OF THE CALCULATED CIVIL
MANCZY PENALTY OR SUSMIT A WRITTEN RESPONSE CHALLENGING EITHER THE
RT3 FINDING OR THE CALCULATED CIVIL MOMEY PENALTVe. THE AMOUNT OF
THE CIYIL MONIY PENALTY HAS SEEN CHANGED TO REFLECT THE ACTUAL LEVEL
OF ACTIVITY OF YJUR 2000 QCTOBER QUARTERLY REPORT.

THS COMMISSION DID NOT RECEIVE PAYMENT OF THE CALCULATED CIVIL
HONEY PENALTY OR YOUR WRITTEN RESPOMSE WITHIN THE TIHE PERMITVED.
THEREFORE, THE COKBMISSION MADE A FINAL DETERMINATION ON 0470272001
THAT ¥Y0OU, AS TREASURER,e AND CMTE TO ELECT KEVIN RCKEIGUE FOR US
SENA VIOULATED 2 UsS50le &34{A3 AND ASSESSED A CIViIL MONEY PENALTY IN
THE AMOUNT 0OF $1300.00 1IN ACCORDANCE WITH 11 CeFasRoe 1lle43e THE

CIVIL MONEY PENALTY 13 BASED ON THESE FACTORS:
ELECTION SEMSIYIVITY OF REPORT: NOT ELECTICON SENSITIVE

LEVEL OF ACTIVITY: 638532
NUMBER OF DAYS LATE: NOT FILED
MUMBSR OF PREVIOUS CIVIL HONEY PENALTIES ASSESSED: 0

TD PAY ThE CIVIL MONEY PONALTY
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TO PAY THE CIVIL MONEY PENALTY, SEND THE ENCLOSED FORM AND YOUR
PAYMENT TO THE ADDRESS ON PAGE 3 WIYRHIN 30 DAVS OF RECEIPT OF THIS

LETTER.

IF YOU DO NOT PAY THE CIVIL MONEY PENALTY
UNPAJD CIVIL MONEY PENALTIES ASSESSED THROUGH YHE ADMINISTRATIVE

FIMT REGULATIONS WILL 3% SUBJECT TO THE DE3T COLLECTION ACT QF 1982
[90CA™), AS AMENDED BY THE DJEDT COLLECTION IMPROVEMENT ACT OF 1996
{"DCIA")y 31 UeSeCa 3701 ET SEZe IF YOU DO NOT PAY THIS DEBT WITHIN
30 DAYS (OR FILE A WRITTEN PETEITION TO A FEDERAL DISTRICT COURY -
SEf 31 0W)y, THZ COMMISSION 4ILL TRANSFER THE DEBY TO THE UsSe
DEPARTMENT OF THE TREASURY [TTREASURY®) FOR COLLECTION. HITHIN S
DAYS OF ITS TRANSFER T2 TREASURYs TREASURY WILL CONTACT THE DEBTOR
AMD REQUFST PAYMEMNT. TREASURY CURRENTLY CHARGES A FEE OF 133 OF THE
CIVIL MONEY PENALTY FOR ITS COLLSECTIONM SERVICES. THE FEE WILL BE
ADDED YO THE AMOUNT OF THZE CIVIL MONSY PENALTY THAT YOU OWE. SHOULRD
TREASURYYS ATTEMPTS FAILy TREASURY WILL TRANSFER THE DEBY TO A
SRIVATE COLLZCTION AGENCY {*®PCA™)a IF THE ODEST IS REFERARED VO A
PCA, THE TREASUCY AMD PCA CILLECT A FEZ OF 28% OF THE CIVIL MONEY
PENALTY AMOUNT WHICH WILL BE ADDED TO THE AMOUNT OF THE CIVIL MONEY
PEMALTY. 15 THE DEBT REMAIMNS UNPAIDy TREASURY MAY RECOMMEND THAT
THT COMMISSION REFEZR THE MATTER TO THE DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE FOR
LITIGATVICN.

I€ YQU CHO?SE 7O APPEAL THE FINAL DETERMINATION OR CIVIL MONEY
PZNALTY

IF ¥YOU CHOOJSE TO APPEAL THE FINAL DETERMINATION, YOU SHOULD
SUBMIT A WRITTEN PETITIDN, WITHIN 30 DAYS OF RECEIPT OF THIS LEYTER,
T2 THE CISTRICT COURT DOF THE UNITED STATES FOR THE DISTRICT IN WHICH
THZ COMMITTEE DR YOU RESIDE; OR TRANSACT BUSINESSy REQUESTING THAT
THE FIMAL DETERMINATION DE MCOIFLIED GR SET ASIDE. SEE 2 UeSeloe
437TALAYIEGY(CILITITYe  YOUR FAILURE TO RAISE AN ARGUMENT IN A TIMELY
FASHION CURING THT ACMINISTRATIVE PROCESS SHALL BE DEEMED A WAIVER
IF THE RESPANDSENT®S RIGHY TO PRESENT SUCH ARGUMENT IN A PETITION TO
THT DISTRICT COURT UNTER 2 UaSeCe 437Ge 11 CeFaRe 111e38.

THE CONFIOJENTIALITY PROVISIAONMS AT 2 UoSate 43T7GLANIL123 ND LONGER
APPLY AND THIS MATTER IS MNOW PUBLIC. THE FILE WILL BE MADE A PARY
OF TYE PUILIC RECORD PUPSUANT TO 11 CoFoRo 111042{8%e ALTHOUGH THE
COMPLETE FILZ MUST 3% PLACED GN THE PUSLIC RECHORD WITHIN 30 DAYS
FROM THE DATS OF THE COMMISSION®S NOTIFICATIONs THIS MAY OCCUR AT
ANY TIME FOLLOWING CERTIFICATION OF THE COMMISSIDN®S VOTE.

IF YOU HAVE ANY QUESTIONS REGARDING THE PAYMENT OF THE CIVIL
MOMEY PENALTY, PLEASE CONTALT MARY E. SEILER AT FEDERAL ELECTION
COMMISSION, 993 € STes NHWs WASHINGTON, DC 20463, OR QUR TOLL FREE
NUMBER (80O0}424-353D {PRESS 1ls THEN PRESS 2) OR (2023694~-1130.

SINCERELYy

DANNY LEE MCODONALD
CHAIRMAN
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WESTERN UNION COMMERCIAL SERVICES

ADMINISTRATIVE FINE PAYMENT INSTRUCTIONS

IN ACCORDAMCE WITH THE SCHEDQULE OF PENALTIES AT 11 LoFaRe
111.43, THE CIVIL MONEY PENALTY IS $1800.00 FOR THE
2000 JCTO32ZR QWARTERLY REPCRT.

THIS PENALTY SHOULD 3E PAID BY CHECK OR MDNEY ORDER MADE PAVABLE
TT THS FENERAL ELTCTIIN COMMISSION. IT SHOULD BE SENT 8Y MAIL TO:3

FEDERAL TLECTION COMMISSION
PO 30X 952132
5Te LOUISe MO 63195-2182

IF YOU CHOQSE TO SEND YOUR PAYMENT 3V COURIER OR OYERNIGHT
DELIVZRY, PLEASE JSE THIS ADDRESS:
FIRSTAR - GOVERNMENT LOCKBOX
FEC #952182
1005 CONVENTION PLAZA
STe LOUISy MD 63101
THI FORM AND PAYHENT ARE DUE WITHIN 30 DAYS OF RECEIPT DF THIS
LETTER

PLEASE DETACH AND RETURN THE PORTION 3ELOW WITH YOUR PAYMENT

. o — - AR T G WP W R A A R S e e A e T wde W W T A e SR LS WP AN T AU SR SR A T S SO S TP W AR i e e Ay e S oA At A e S e

FOR CMTE TO =SLECY KoVIN MCKZIIGUETZ FOR US SENA
FEC ID& CDD2353557
AF# 140

PAYMENT AMOUNT DUE $1800.00
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FOR CMTE TO ELECT KEVIN MCKEIGUE FOR US SENA

FEC ID# C00353557 :

AF# 140 -
PAYMENT AMOUNT DUE #1800.00
MGMCOMP 17:18 EST '

To reply by Mailgram Message, see reverse side for Western Union's toll-free number. -
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THIS IS THE END OF ADi:;IINST RATIVE FINE CASE
#_ |7

DATE FILMED S fi4foi  CAMERANO. M

CAMERAMAN 2&§
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